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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 1:15-cv-01555 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR 

DECLARATORY AND 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

 

Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et 

seq. 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. This is an action to compel the Administrator of the United States 

Environmental Protection Agency (“Administrator” or “EPA”) to perform a 

nondiscretionary duty mandated by the Clean Air Act (“CAA” or “the Act”).  Effective 

August 6, 2012, EPA disapproved, in part, revisions to the State of Louisiana’s state 

implementation plan (“SIP”) for regional haze and interstate transport.  Within two years 

of that disapproval—no later than August 6, 2014—EPA was required under the Clean 

Air Act to promulgate a federal implementation plan (“FIP”), or approve a revised SIP 

that corrects the deficiencies in the State of Louisiana’s plan.  Louisiana has not corrected 

its deficient plan, the statutorily mandated two-year period has elapsed, and EPA has 

SIERRA CLUB, 

85 Second Street, Second Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94105-3441 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

REGINA MCCARTHY, 

in her official capacity as Administrator, 

United States Environmental Protection 

Agency, 

Ariel Rios Building 

1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 

Washington, DC 20460 

 

Defendant. 
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failed to issue a federal plan.  To protect its members’ health and recreational interests, 

Sierra Club now seeks an order compelling EPA to perform its mandatory duty to 

promulgate a FIP for Louisiana that satisfies the requirements of the Clean Air Act’s 

visibility provisions. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This action arises under the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.  This 

Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7604 (CAA citizen suits), 

28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question), and 28 U.S.C. § 1361 (mandamus action). The relief 

requested by Plaintiff is authorized pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7604 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 

(declaratory judgment), 2202, and 1361 (action to compel an officer of the United States).   

3. In accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(2) and 40 C.F.R. Part 54, Plaintiff 

Sierra Club served notice on the Administrator of the Clean Air Act violation alleged in 

this Complaint, and its intent to initiate the present action.  This notice was provided via 

Federal Express certified mail, posted March 17, 2015, and addressed to the 

Administrator.  See Ex. A.  More than 60 days have passed since the notice was served 

and the violations complained of in the notice are continuing. 

4. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because 

Defendant Regina McCarthy is an officer of the United States being sued in her capacity 

as the Administrator of the EPA, and her official residence is in the District of Columbia. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Sierra Club is a not-for-profit corporation organized and existing 

under the laws of California, with its principal place of business located in San Francisco, 

California.  Sierra Club has more than 630,000 members throughout the United States, 
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including approximately 2,865 members in Louisiana.  The Sierra Club’s mission is to 

explore, enjoy, and protect the wild places of the earth; to practice and promote the 

responsible use of the Earth’s resources and ecosystems; to educate and enlist humanity 

to protect and restore the quality of the natural and human environment; and to use all 

lawful means to carry out those objectives.   

6. Sierra Club and its members are greatly concerned about the diminished 

visibility caused by air pollution, and have a long history of involvement in activities 

related to air quality.  For many years, Sierra Club has conducted public education on, 

and advocacy for, effective and timely implementation of Clean Air Act requirements in 

Louisiana, including the filing of public comments on proposed state and EPA actions 

relevant to implementation of Clean Air Act standards and permits, as well as the 

implementation of regional haze rules.  Sierra Club brings this action on behalf of itself 

and its members.  

7. To protect air quality in the National Parks and Wilderness Areas and ensure 

that those iconic and treasured landscapes return to their natural air quality conditions, 

Congress passed the visibility protection provisions of the Clean Air Act in 

1977.  42 U.S.C. § 7491 et seq.  Under those provisions, the states—or EPA, where a 

state fails to act—must develop state implementation plans that include enforceable 

emission limits at “major sources” of haze-causing pollution to ensure “reasonable 

progress” toward the goal of achieving natural visibility conditions in each “Class I” 

national park or wilderness area impacted by that state’s emissions.  Id. at § 7491(b)(2).  

8. Sierra Club’s members use and enjoy at least two Class I areas that suffer 

from visibility impairment caused by air pollution from Louisiana sources—Breton 
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National Wilderness Area in Louisiana and Caney Creek National Wilderness Area in 

Arkansas.  Sierra Club members have on numerous occasions travelled to Breton 

National Wilderness Area for work and recreation, and plan to do so again.  Sierra Club 

members enjoy the scenic vistas, fishing, boating, and wildlife viewing opportunities in 

the Breton National Wilderness Area.  Sierra Club members also visited the Wilderness 

Area after Hurricane Isaac and the Deep Water Horizon oil spill to monitor and document 

the migratory birds and wildlife in the area for scientific research, educational, advocacy 

purposes, and they intend to continue doing so.  Similarly, Sierra Club members also use 

and enjoy the Caney Creek Wilderness Area in Arkansas for recreation and aesthetic 

purposes, including the enjoyment of scenic vistas.   

9. Sierra Club’s members use and enjoyment of these Class I areas is adversely 

affected by manmade haze-causing pollution from Louisiana, which the Clean Air Act 

requires the states (or EPA where the state fails to act) to reduce. 

10. If the Administrator had timely promulgated a haze reduction plan within two 

years of disapproving Louisiana’s deficient plan, as required under the Clean Air Act, air 

quality and visibility in the Upper Buffalo and Caney Creek would improve more quickly 

than it has.  EPA’s failure to timely promulgate a federal implementation plan as required 

under the Clean Air Act has prolonged existing, and allows future, visibility impairment 

that significantly interferes with Sierra Club’s members’ use and enjoyment of Breton 

National Wildlife Area and Caney Creek Wilderness Areas.  The recreational, aesthetic, 

and environmental interests of Sierra Club’s members have been and continue to be 

adversely affected by EPA’s failure to promulgate the required regional haze plan for 

Louisiana.   
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11. The relief requested in this lawsuit would redress Sierra Club members’ 

injuries by requiring EPA to timely issue a federal implementation plan that improves 

visibility and remedies existing visibility impairment in the Upper Buffalo and Caney 

Creek.  When EPA is forced to comply with the mandatory deadlines under the Clean Air 

Act and promulgates a FIP for regional haze in Louisiana, such action will reduce haze-

causing pollution in the Breton and Caney Creek Wilderness Areas.  Reductions in these 

pollutants will bring the area closer to attaining the national goal of natural visibility and 

help reduce the haze that hangs over those areas.  Reducing haze will benefit public 

health as well as Sierra Club’s members’ recreational, aesthetic, and environmental 

interests in the use and enjoyment of those Class I areas. 

12. Defendant Regina McCarthy is the Administrator of the United States 

Environmental Protection Agency and is charged with implementing and enforcing the 

Clean Air Act.  The Administrator’s Clean Air Act responsibilities include, inter alia, 

promulgating a federal plan within two years of disapproving a state plan.  See 42 U.S.C. 

§ 7410(c)(1).  Sierra Club is suing Ms. McCarthy in her official capacity as the 

Administrator of EPA. 

FACTS AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

13. Haze is caused by air pollution that absorbs and reflects light, thereby 

reducing visibility.  Air pollution that causes haze comes from a variety of sources, 

including power plants, refineries, and other industrial sources.   

14.  The air pollution that causes haze also causes respiratory health problems.  

15. In 1977, Congress declared as a national goal “the prevention of any future, 

and the remedying of any existing, impairment of visibility in mandatory Class I federal 
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areas which impairment results from manmade air pollution.”  42 U.S.C. § 7491.  

Mandatory Class I federal areas include 156 national parks and wilderness areas for 

which the Secretary of the Interior has determined visibility is an important value.   

16. Congress directed EPA to issue regulations requiring states to make 

reasonable progress toward achieving natural visibility in Class I areas, including 

requiring amended SIPs with emissions limits on certain sources of air pollutants that 

cause or contribute to visibility impairments in Class I areas.  42 U.S.C. § 7491(b).  In 

particular, the Act requires that certain older, disproportionately polluting sources 

implement Best Available Retrofit Technology (“BART”) to reduce haze-causing 

pollution and remedy visibility impacts. 

17. Further, the “interstate transport” provision of the Act, also known as the 

“good neighbor” provision, requires that states control their in-state emissions that may 

result in visibility impairment in neighboring states’ Class I areas.  42 U.S.C. § 

7410(a)(2)(D)(i)(II).    

18. In Louisiana, Breton National Wilderness Area has been designated as a Class 

I area.  Louisiana’s emissions may also result in visibility impairment in southwest 

Arkansas’ Class I Caney Creek Wilderness Area. 

19. The Act provides that if EPA disapproves a state’s proposed implementation 

plan in whole or in part, it has a mandatory duty to promulgate a FIP within two years of 

its disapproval decision unless EPA approves a revised SIP that corrects the deficiencies 

in the disapproved plan.  42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(1).  

20. On June 13, 2008, Louisiana submitted a revision to the state’s SIP intended 

to address the state’s obligations under the Act’s regional haze requirements and 
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interstate transport requirements for visibility. See 77 Fed. Reg. 11,737, 11,839 (Feb. 28, 

2012) (describing history of Louisiana regional haze submissions).   

21. On July 3, 2012, EPA issued a final rule approving in part and disapproving in 

part Louisiana’s regional haze and interstate transport SIP revisions.  77 Fed. Reg. 

39,385, 39,425 (July 3, 2012).   

22. In particular, EPA found that Louisiana did not properly satisfy its obligation 

to require certain sources to install BART to reduce SO2, NOx, and other visibility-

impairing pollution.  77 Fed. Reg. at 39,427 (final rule); see also 77 Fed. Reg. at 11,841 

(proposed rule).  As a result, EPA concluded that Louisiana would be required to 

reconsider whether reductions of SO2 from EGUs, whether subject to BART or not, are 

appropriate for ensuring reasonable progress toward the national visibility goal.  77 Fed. 

Reg. at 39427. 

23. EPA’s disapproval decision took effect on August 6, 2012.   

24. The Act therefore required EPA to issue a FIP by August 6, 2014, unless EPA 

approved a revised State plan that corrected the deficiencies in the plan EPA disapproved.  

77 Fed. Reg. at 39,426; 77 Fed. Reg. at 11,841; 42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(1)(B) (requiring 

EPA to issue a FIP within two years of disapproving a SIP in whole or in part).   

25. EPA has not approved a revised state plan that corrects the deficiencies EPA 

identified on July 3, 2012.   

26. In fact, Louisiana has not submitted a revised regional haze plan since EPA’s 

disapproval decision. 

27. EPA has not issued a federal implementation plan since its disapproval of 

Louisiana’s SIP on July 3, 2012.  
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28. EPA failed to issue a FIP within the two-year statutory deadline.   

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Failure to Promulgate Federal Implementation Plan 

29. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all previous paragraphs by reference. 

30. Under the Clean Air Act, any person may commence a civil action against the 

EPA Administrator “where there is alleged a failure of the Administrator to perform any 

act or duty under [the Clean Air Act] which is not discretionary with the Administrator.”  

42 U.S.C. § 7604(a)(2).  

31. EPA’s partial disapproval of Louisiana’s regional haze and interstate transport 

SIP took effect on August 6, 2012.  77 Fed. Reg. at 39,425. 

32. Under 42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(1)(B), EPA is required to issue a FIP within two 

years of disapproving a SIP in whole or in part.  The two-year period ended on August 6, 

2014. 

33. Because EPA has failed to timely promulgate a Louisiana FIP to address 

regional haze and interstate transport, it has failed to meet its mandatory duty to establish 

a FIP within two years of disapproving a SIP. 

34. EPA’s failure to promulgate a FIP constitutes a failure to perform acts or 

duties that are not discretionary with the Administrator within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 

7604(a)(2).  Such failure is ongoing and, on information and belief, will continue absent 

the relief sought herein. 

35. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to an order from this Court directing EPA to 

promulgate a FIP for regional haze in Louisiana by a date certain. 

36. THEREFORE, Plaintiff asks that this Court: 
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(1)  Declare that EPA’s failure to promulgate a regional haze and interstate 

transport Federal Implementation Plan for Louisiana as complained of herein 

constitutes a failure to perform a nondiscretionary duty; 

 (2) Order the Administrator to issue a regional haze and interstate 

transport Federal Implementation Plan for Louisiana by a date certain;  

(3)  Award Plaintiff its reasonable costs of litigation, including attorneys’ 

fees, under 42 U.S.C. § 7604(d);  

(4)  Retain jurisdiction over this action to ensure compliance with the 

Court’s orders; and 

(5)  Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

DATED: this 22nd day of September, 2015.  

 Respectfully submitted, 

 __/s/ Joshua Smith___________________ 

 JOSHUA D. SMITH (Oregon Bar No. 071757) 

(Pro Hac Vice Motion To Be Filed) 

SIERRA CLUB  

85 Second Street, 2
nd

 Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94105 

(415) 977-5560   

(415) 977-5793 (facsimile) 

Joshua.smith@sierraclub.org 

 

JOSHUA R. STEBBINS (Bar No 468542) 

SIERRA CLUB 

50 F St. NW, 8th Floor 

Washington, D.C. 20001 

(415) 675-6273   

(202) 547-6009 (facsimile) 

Josh.stebbins@sierraclub.org 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Sierra Club 
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SIERRA 
CLUB 
FOUNDED 1892 

Via Federal Express 

Gina McCarthy 
Administrator 

March 17, 2015 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Ariel Rios Building 
1200 Pennsylvania Ave., N. W. 
Washington, D.C. 20460 

Ron Curry 
Administrator, Region 6 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
1445 Ross Avenue, 
Dallas, Texas 75202 

Guy Donaldson 
Section Chief 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
1445 Ross A venue 
Dallas, TX 75202-2733 

Re: Notice of Intent to File Suit Under Section 304(b) of the Clean Air Act, 
42 U.S.C. § 7604(b), for Failure to Issue a Federal Implementation 
Plan or Approve a Revised State Implementation Plan as Required by 
42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(l) 

Dear Administrator McCarthy, 

Pursuant to Section 304(b)(2) of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(2), and 
40 C.F .R. part 54, I hereby provide notice of Sierra Club's intent to file suit against the 
Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") for the "failure of 
the Administrator to perform an[] act or duty under this chapter which is not discretionary 
with the Administrator." 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a)(2). Specifically, the Administrator has 

85 Second Street, Second Floor San Francisco, CA 94105-3441 TEL: (415) 977-5772 FAX: (415) 977-5793 www.sierraclub.org 
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violated 42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(l) by failing to promulgate a Federal Implementation Plan 
("FIP") within two years of partially disapproving Louisiana's June 13, 2008 Regional 
Haze State Implementation Plan ("SIP"). See 77 Fed. Reg. 39,425 (July 3, 2012). 

A. The Clean Air Act's Visibility Requirements 

In the 1977 amendments to the Clean Air Act, Congress determined that air 
quality in our national parks, wilderness areas, and treasured "Class I" federal areas 
should enjoy the highest level of protection, and it set a national goal of eliminating all 
human-caused visibility impairment at these areas. 42 U.S.C. § 7491(a)(l). EPA set a 
goal of achieving natural visibility conditions at every Class I area by 2064, and the 
agency directed states to make incremental, reasonable progress toward that goal. 40 
C.F.R. § 51.308(d)(l)(i)(B), (d)(l)(ii). States and EPA are to make reasonable progress 
toward the 2064 natural visibility goal by issuing regional haze plans that improve 
visibility at a pace sufficient to eliminate human-caused visibility impairment at each 
Class I area by 2064. See id. 

To that end, the CAA requires states to develop and implement SIPs that reduce 
the pollution that causes visibility impairment over a wide geographic area, known as 
Regional Haze, and ensure "reasonable progress" toward the goal of achieving natural 
visibility conditions in those areas. Id. at § 7 491 (b )(2). As one means of achieving that 
goal, the states must also impose best available retrofit pollutant control technologies 
("BART") at many of the largest and oldest individual sources of pollution affecting the 
Nation's designated Class I parks and wildernesses. 

After a state submits a SIP or SIP revisions to the EPA, EPA must make a finding 
within six months as to whether the SIP submittal complies with the requirements of 
42 U.S.C. § 7410(a)(2), a determination known as the completeness finding. 42 U.S.C. § 
7410(k)(l)(B). Once a submittal is deemed complete, EPA has a mandatory duty to take 
final action on the submittal within 12 months by approving in full, disapproving in full, 
or approving in part and disapproving in part. Id. § 741 O(k)(2}-(3). If EPA disapproves 
a SIP submittal in whole or in part, it has a mandatory duty to promulgate a FIP within 
two years of its disapproval decision. Id. § 7410(c)(l)(B). 

B. EPA Failed to Timely Promulgate a FIP for Louisiana Regional Haze in 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(l) 

On June 13, 2008, Louisiana submitted a SIP intended to address the state's 
obligations under the Regional Haze Rule. See 77 Fed. Reg. at 11,839. On July 3, 2012, 
EPA issued a final rule partially disapproving the Louisiana Regional Haze SIP because 
it found, among other flaws, that Louisiana did not properly satisfy its obligation to make 
BART determinations for certain sources of S02, NOx, and other visibility impairing 
pollutants. 77 Fed. Reg. 39,425, 39427 (adopting proposed rule with one minor 
exception relevant to the state's BART determination for the Rhodia Sulfuric Acid Plant); 
see also 77 Fed. Reg. 11,841. EPA further concluded that Louisiana would be required 
to reconsider whether reductions of S02 from EGUs, whether subject to BART or not, 
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are appropriate for ensuring reasonable progress. Id. For this reason, among others, 
EPA partially disapproved Louisiana's Regional Haze SIP. 77 Fed. Reg. 39,425. 

EPA's disapproval decision took effect on August 6, 2012, thereby triggering 
EPA's "mandatory FIP clock" to issue a FIP by August 6, 2014. 77 Fed. Reg. at 39,426; 
77 Fed. Reg. at 11,841; 42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(l)(B) (requiring EPA to issue a FIP within 
two years of disapproving a SIP in whole or in part). EPA has failed to issue a FIP within 
the two year deadline after partially disapproving Louisiana's Regional Haze SIP. Nor 
has EPA approved a revised Regional Haze plan submitted by Louisiana that corrects the 
deficiencies EPA identified in its proposed February 28, 2012 partial disapproval, or its 
final July 3, 2012 disapproval. Consequently, EPA is in violation of its mandatory duty 
to promulgate a Regional Haze FIP for Louisiana under 42 U.S.C. § 7410(c)(l). 

As required by 40 C.F.R. § 54.3, the person providing this notice is: 

Joshua Smith 
Staff Attorney 
Sierra Club Environmental Law Program 
85 Second Street, 2nd Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
Phone: (415) 977-5560 
Email: joshua.smith@sierraclub.org 

Sierra Club would prefer to resolve this matter without the need for litigation. 
Quickly and fairly resolving this matter would be a clear indication that EPA intends to 
respect the rule of law. Therefore, we look forward to EPA contacting the undersigned 
counsel to resolve this matter. lfwe do not hear from EPA in 60 days, we will assume 
that you are not interested in settling this matter, and we will file a complaint. 
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March 20,2015

Dear Customer:

The following is the proof-of-delivery for tracking number 806676344877.

Delivery Information:

Status: Delivered Delivered to: Receptionist/Front Desk
Signed for by: M.EMMERSON Delivery location: DC

Service type: FedEx Standard Overnight Delivery date: Mar 18, 2015 10:29
Special Handling: Deliver Weekday

Signature image is available. In order to view image and detailed information, the shipper or payor account number of
the shipment must be provided.

Shipping Information:

Tracking number: 806676344877 Ship date: Mar 17, 2015

Recipient: Shipper:
DC US SAN US

Thank you for choosing FedEx.
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YES                   NO 

VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
IF ANY

(See instruction) YES NO If yes, please complete related case form 

DATE:  _________________________ SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD _________________________________________________________ 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET JS-44 
Authority for Civil Cover Sheet 

The JS-44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and services of pleadings or other papers as required 
by law, except as provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the 
Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.  Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed.  
Listed below are tips for completing the civil cover sheet.  These tips coincide with the Roman Numerals on the cover sheet.  

I. COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF/DEFENDANT (b) County of residence: Use 11001 to indicate plaintiff if resident 
of Washington, DC, 88888 if plaintiff is resident of United States but not Washington, DC, and 99999 if plaintiff is outside the United States. 

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES: This section is completed only if diversity of citizenship was selected as the Basis of Jurisdiction
under Section II.

IV. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT: The assignment of a judge to your case will depend on the category you select that best
represents the primary cause of action found in your complaint. You may select only one category.  You must also select one corresponding
nature of suit found under the category of the case.

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION: Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a brief statement of the primary cause.

VIII. RELATED CASE(S), IF ANY: If you indicated that there is a related case, you must complete a related case form, which may be obtained from 
the Clerk’s Office.

Because of the need for accurate and complete information, you should ensure the accuracy of the information provided prior to signing the form. 

/s/ Josh Stebbins 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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